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- “We Lay There Doing Nothing”:
John Jackson’s Recollection
;... of the War of 1812

Edited by
- Jeff L. Patrick*

The War of 1812 spilled bloodily across the Old Northwest,
bringing American military success and failure.! Many of the
works written about the campaigns against the British and their
Indian allies focus on the larger picture and on the military and
political leaders. There are only a few good accounts by the partici-
pants themselves, particularly by those who served as rank and
file militiamen. John Jackson’s memoir of his militia service in
1812 and 1813 provides a rare and fascinating window into the
daily life of an ordinary soldier. Jackson reminds readers, for ex-

‘ample, of the importance of food for men at war, as he describes
roasting potatoes over a fire and eating too much corn. He tells of

the diversions fiecessary to pass long, uneventful days and of the
challenges of breaking through ice on a hard winter march. All
this Jackson later remembered and wrote in a straightforward
manner, without false embellishment or pride and in a voice that
rings true and clear to later generations.

Jackson was born on July 2, 1790, in Hardy County, Virginia
(now West Virginia). At the age of nine he moved west with his
parents to Chillicothe, Ross County, Ohio, where he married in
1811.2 The following year, as war with Great Britain was declared,
Jackson embarked on hig career with the Ohio militia.

* Jeff L. Patrick holds a masters degree in history from Purdue University and
is a resident of Ligonier, Indiana. The author wishes to thank the staffs of the
Newspaper Section, Indiana State Library, and the Elkhart County Historical So-
ciety for their assistance.

* A good general overview is Donald R. Hickey, The War of 1812 (Urbana, 1l.,
1989).. . . ' C o

tH. 8. K. Bartholomew, “Colonel John Jackson,” Indiaona Magazine of History

. -..& (June, 1934}, 161; Adjutant General of Ohio, Roster of Ohio Soldiers in the

War of 1812 (Columbus, Ohio, 1916), 52, 143; Higgins Belden & fln  An Ihicivetad
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Tracing Jackson’s
military serviee through
extant Ohio muster rolls
for 1812 is difficult. Jack-
son's first enlistment was

in Captain Philip Mc-
Nemar’s company, Ohio
militia, from August 14
or 15, 1812, to February
14 or 15, 1813.2. State
muster rolls indicate that
he served. only until Oc-
tober, 1812, but Jackson’s
pension file clearly shows

ginning of the following
year. His final enlistment

JOHN JACKSON was as captain in his own
Ross County company
Cou!rtesy E}khart Ct_mnty Historicat from July 94 or 28 to Au-

Saciety, Bristol, Indiana.

gust 12 or 15, 1813, again
' depending on whether
the pension records or Ohio records are consulted.* ‘
Jackson served through some of the most exciting and difficult
months of the War of 1812. At the time of his enllstment a large
American army at Detroit was under siege by British and Indian
forces and soon surrendered. Likewise, the capitulation or evacua-
tion of American posts at Mackinac and Chicago also resulted in
disasters for ‘American arms. The United States post at Fort
Wayne was one of the few garrisons left, and quickly that small
force found itself surrounded by Britain’s Indian allies. By the end
of 1812, thanks to the small regular army and thousands of militia
volunteers like Jackson, the situation improved markedly for the
Americans. General Williamm Henry Harrison led an army, of
which Jackson was a member, to lift the siege of Fort Wayne and

2 This officer’s name has several spellings in contemporary records. He is listed
as Phillip McNeme, Philip MacNemar, and Philip McNemar. See Adjutant General
of Ohio, Roster of Ohio Soldiers, 143; Pension File of John Jackson, War of 1812
{National Archives, Washington, D.C.}; unless otherwise indicated, all pension re-
cords relating to John Jackson were secured in the form of photocopies from the
National Archives and Records Service, Washington, D.C. Richard C. Knopf, Docu-
ment Transcriptions of the War of 1812 in the Old Northwest (10 vols., Columbus,
Ohio, 1958), V, pt. 1, p. 152. This company is listed as part of Colonel James Ren-
ick’s 2nd Regiment, Ohio Militia, in the National Intelligencer.

4 This unit is noted as the 2nd Company, 2nd Battalion, Znd Regiment, 3rd
Brigade, 2nd Division, Ohio Militia. Pension file of John Jackson, War of 1812 (Na-
tional Archives, Washington, D.C.).
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“destroy the surrounding Indian villages. There followed a long pe-

riod of relative inactivity as Harrison gathered his forees and built

- Fort Meigs in northwest Ohio in preparation to retake Detroit and
.. invade Upper Canada. During the winter Jackson and his fellow
" .. militiamen endured months of camp life in a separate area, punc-

- tuated by a small skirmish with the British and Indians. By the

time they rejoined Harrison’s main force in early 1813, their en-

* listments had expired, and they went home only weeks before Har-

rison’s force came under siege at Fort Meigs. Later, when the fort -

came under attack a second time, Jackson once more returned to -

the army but was too late to take part in any fighting.
Following the war J ackson remained in Ross County until

'. 1829, when he moved to southeastern Elkhart County, Indiana, as

one of its first white residents. He quickly became a leader in his

.. new home, helping to organize the county and establish Goshen as
. the county seat. He was one of several. investors who advanced
~ funds to start the Goshen Democrat, one of the first newspapers in
-the area. In addition, Jackson served a”' justice of the peace (1830
and 1840), representative in the Indlana House on two occasions

(1836—1837 and 1842-1843), postmaster (1830—1835) county com-

“missioner (1831-1832), and colonel i in ‘the Indlana ‘militia. His only
‘major political setback occurred when he was defeated for a third
‘term as state representative in 1850. By the 1870s Jackson had
- few responsibilities and wrote stories and memoirs for the local

paper while reflecting on a very active public life. He died on July
9, 1873, at the age.of elghty-thlee §

Jackson’s narrative of his experiences in the war of 1812 was
published in the Goshen Demoacrat in seven installments from Jan-
uary 10 to April 17, 1872. His desire to record his personal history
has provided later generations an entertaining and highly valu-
able look into the life of one of the soldiers who followed “Old Tip-
pecanoe.” His writings give personal views of little known events
and details of life in the American militia from descriptions of liv-
ing conditions to stories of officers and enlisted men and impres-
sions of a first taste of battle. When read with accounts of life in
the regular United States army of this period, the contrast becomes
readily apparent. Although, by and large, the militiamen seemed
less “military,” less disciplined and trained than the regulars, of-
ten they experienced many of the same hardships and adventures,
showed the same bravado, and shared similar feelings about home
and the war.

hical Directory of Indigna Gene)
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An 0ld Citizens’ Recollection of the War of 1812!
Mr. Editor:—I have been requested to write a short sketch of
the part I had taken, and some of the incidents that transpired, in

the War of 1812. If. you should see fit to publish this, I may resume- " -
the narrative in: another commumcatlon Yours Respectfully, John =

Jackson.

Ohio. In August, 1812, there was a demand for troops to reinforce

General Hull's army that was then at or near Detroit.? I was then_ § e
a lieutenant in a rifle company in the Ohio militia. The whole com= -

pany was ordered ‘out together.® We rendezvoused at Urbana,
which was the headquarters of the troops being then raised. Gov-
ernor Meigs and the Ad_]utant; General of Ohio were there, receiv-
ing and organizing the militia as they came in.* Whilst we were
laying there, an express came from Fort Wayne to the Governor,
informing him that the fort was besieged by Indians; that the in-
habitants had all fled into the fort, and that they were likely to-be
starved out. Qur company was a rifle company, and was armed

-with their own rifles, and each had a tomahawk and large knife
attached to thelr bélts; was uniformed with blue’ hnsey pants and -

- hunting shirts.. The officers’ hunting shirts (for dlstmctlon) was
fringed with red. We made a respectable appearance when on pa-
rade. The Governor came to our captain and inquired whether our”
company would be willing to go to Fort Wayne, provided he would
furnish us with horses to ride. The company cheerfully agreed to

go. The next day about noon we were mounted on U.S. horses and

pack saddles, with our knapsacks and blankets thrown over our
saddles, we made a pretty grand show in the streets of Urbana. We
went to Piqua where we met three volunteer mounted companies.
We organized a battalion, and elected an old man by the name of

1In an effort to provide the most authentic reproduction possible, John Jack-
son's account is presented here much as it originally appeared, with only minor
changes. Jackson’s narrative of his experiences in the War of 1812 was published
in the Goshen Democrat in seven installments from January 10 to April 17, 1872,
Jackson addressed an intreduction and closing to the Goshen Demnocrat editor with
each installment. The first preamble and closing is included in the reproduction; all
others are represented with an ellipsis of six dots. Spelling, grammar, and syntax
have been transeribed exactly as written. Small portions of two issues of the Demo-
crat were damaged, so the editor was compelled to piece together certain sentences.
In these passages brackets appear arcund words which are conjectural. Errors that
were clearly attributable to the Democra#'s printing process were corrected.

2 William Hull (1L753-1825), was a United States brigadier general and gover-
nor of the Michigan Territory, who surrendered Detroit to the British on August
16, 1812, Dictionary of American Biography, see under “William Hull.”

2 On August 15, 1812, McNemar’'s company left Pickaway County with seventy-
five riflemen for. Urbana Later this company was referred to as the “Deer Creek
volunteers,” Richard 'C. Knopf, Document Transcriptions of the War of 1812 in the _

lumbus, Ohlo, 1958), V, pt. 1,'pp. 152 86, :
Ohi
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; :‘_ " Adams to command. He lived somewhere in the Miami Valley; had

been in some skirmishes with Indians and was said to be a good ‘
soldier. We then went on to “Shanescroping,” and the next day was
joined by four other companies from different parts of Ohio. We
there formed a regiment of two battalions. General Lytle;® of Cin-

. cinnati, was appointed to command the first, Colonel Dunlap,® of

Chillicothe, the second battalion, and Colonel Adams” to command

 the regiment.* We then marched to Wilshire. At that place we

heard that General Harrison was marching a military force from
Kentucky to join Hull’s army at Detroit, and concluded to go via
Fort Wayne.? He was expected here in two or three days, the offi-

| cers were called together in counsel, to decide whether to march on

to Fort Wayne immediately, or wait till General Harrison came on.
There was two notable characters with us. Both had béen in Indian

wars, and both had been taken prisoner by ‘them. The one was old
. General Simon Kenton," the other was Stephen Ruddell.! The of-
" ficers were some what divided about whether to stay or go on. Ken-
. ton advised to stay, and Ruddell was for pushing on. The

conclusion. was to stay until Harrison came on. When the decision -
was made known, Ruddell got in a great rage, and said they were
a set of damned cowards. He drew one of his pistols and we ex-

.. pected there would be blood shed, but some of his friends got him

pacified. At this point I will state that Logan, the great Indian

..chief, was with us.’? He was acquainted with Colonel Dunlap (our
.. Major) and as Colonel Dunlap stayed mostly with our company, 1

5 William Lytle (1779-1831) was a major general in the Ohio militia. Henry

.' Howe, Historical Collections of Ohio (2 vels., Columbus, Ohio, 1889), I, 415.

s James Dunlap, a native of Chillicothe, led a group of Ohio mounted riflemen
to the siege of Fort Wayne and returned home in October, 1812. Knopf, Document
Transcriptions, V, pt. 1, p. 185, ’

7 This is probably Major George Adams, who led a battalion’ of ever three hun-
dred Ohio militiamen to defend the frontier after Hull’s surrender, then went on to
the siege of Fort Wayne. Knopf, Document Transeriptions, V, pt. 1, p. 185,

8In an earlier account Jackson states that his company was joined by seven
other companies at Stone’s Crossing on the St. Mary’s River and that there they
formed the battalion. Ligonier National Banner, September 28, 1870.

» William Henry Harrison (1773-1841) was then a United States brigadier gen-

 eral who commanded the force that rescued Fort Wayne. He was subsequently pro-

moted to major general in command of the Northwestern Army.
10 Simon Kenton (1756-1836) was a famous frontiersman and a brigadier gen-
eral in the Ohio militia. Dictionary of American. Bingmphy,__seq_under “Simon Ken-
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got acquainted_ﬁ&ﬁth'_I;gpgaq'*g He told us- there, that he could not 'g‘o_.‘ L
any further with us; .and his reason was this: he said he was an

Indian, and the war would not last always, and after peace was

made he would -::s_t_i__ll‘ibé_ with the Indians, and if they knew that he = "= .
fought against them they never would be friendly towards him. He -~~~ "

was a fine, sensible man, and I was sorry to hear how he was fool-:.
ishly murdered: .~ ¥ : .

We marched’ on with General H;irrison to Fort Wayne. The
night before we.got there the Indians viewed our camp, and we.
were under alarm mostly -all night.*? ‘The Indians: found that We..
were “too much melish,” and the next morning they scampered off

in all directions.. We marched in the next morning; and found them. - "

all fled. And sdihé,bf ‘the incidents that transpired, in the War of =7

'1812; also circﬁ_)l_météhce_s_that transpired in the first settlement-of -

‘if not, you can throw it aside without inj

¢ i_;QWayne we found the placein'a de'plbr_-;}_

' On our arrival at Fort 1 the ) .
able situation—-the inhabitants that had settled: promiscuously

. If you should think it worth publishing in your: S

around, had all fled within the Fort. There were some small im- -

provements, and they had raised some grain. Their cabins were 'all

burnt, likewise.most.of their fences, also their grist mill had been: ..

burned. Their horses were all stolen; their cattle and hogs all’
killed or driven off; and everything that could be, was destroyed.
The Fort consisted of four log long cabins built in a square and
picketed in all around. They had been closely besieged for a.num-
ber of days; had got nearly out of firewood, when-one foggy morn-
ing a party was'sent out with guns and axes to procure some wood.
This party was discovered by Indians, and had to retreat, being: -
fired on and two men killed before they reached the Fort. The In-
dians did not venture up to scalp them, and they were taken into
the Fort and placed in rough boxes, and in the evening taken cut
and buried with the honors of war.!* These were the first soldiers
we saw buried.—We encamped that night in a hollow square
around the Fort. Sometime after dark, one of the sentinels on
guard, down the river (Maumee,) reported that he saw Indians
crossing the river below on our side, and the officer on guard sent
into camp for reinforcements. I was sent with about twenty men.

on the night of September 11 the camp was alarmed by the Firing of -

els; Elias Darnall, Journal containing an Accurate @ d Interesting Ac unt.of.

Sufferings, Battles, Defeat an tivity -Erest] U
ula :
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We doubled the line of sentinels and gave strict orders to watch

" diligently, but no discoveries were made on that line during the

night.’® The next day General Harrison sent off three attachments

in pursuit of the Indians, two of which went to Indian towns on the .
Wabash, the third being sent to Elkhart “Prarie. We (the Ohio
troops) went, together with a battalion of regular troops com-
manded by Major Davenport,'® Colonel Wells,'” brother to Captain
Wells!®;that was massacreed at or near Chicago, commanded the
whole. We marched out a few miles in the evening and encamped
ori'Spy Run. Our horses having been taken from us at the Fort, we
were now on foot, and marched on until the second night: after-
wards, encamping on Perry’s Prarie.'” The following day we came
to Elkhart River, where Benton now stands, and now being within
two miles of the Indian town known as Obbenobbe or Five Medals
Town;2® we were formed into two lines, the right wing led by Col.
Wells with the Regulars, the left by Adrian, 2! a Frenchman, who
had been our guide from Fort Wayne. In this position we were to
surround and attack the town, for which purpose we marched: on
and surrounded the town, but found “no-body at home.” All had
fled that morning. The fires still burned in their wigwams, in one ‘

of which was a kettle of pumpkin or squashes, boiled soft, which:-’

we supposed to be poisoned, and no one dare eat of it. They had a

15'0n the highﬁ ‘of September 13 the ‘army was fnrmed into line of battlé in
response to an alarm. Darnall, Journal, 13-16. ' )
16 Richard Davenport was part of the 17th United States Infantry Regiment.-

Charles K. Gardner, A Dictionary of all officers, who have been commissioned, op '
have been appointed and served in the Army of the United States (New York, 1853);. 0 -

139.

17 Gamuel Wells was a veteran of the Baitle of Tippecanoe and commanding
officer of the 17th United States Infantry Regiment. Ibid., 476,

18 William Wells was the Indian agent at Fort Wayne for several years prior to
the War of 1812. He was killed in the Chicago massacre in August, 1812, while
evacuating the Fort Dearborn garrison. Griswold, Fort Wayne, 19, 56. See also Paul
A. Hutton, "“William Wells: Frontier Scout and Indian Agent,” Indiana Magazine
of History, LXXIV {September, 1978), 183-222.

15 Porry’s Prairie was in the area of modern Ligonier, Indiana. In an account to
a friend Jackson related that the American force divided into left and right wings
in order to surprise an Indian village there. Some Indians fled from the village, so
the Americans reunited their column and gave chage. The pursuit lasted until they
were near Five Medals' village, the army's target, when a truce of some sort was
arranged, undoubtedly to prevent the Tndians from giving warning to Five Medals
of the Americans’ approach. Ligonier Banner, February 10, 1898.

» Five Medals, a prominent Potawatomi leader, was present at a parley with
the American commander of Fort Wayne at the start of the siege. After the siege
e fled to Detroit where he was given food, arms, and ammunition by the British.
When the latter evacuated that post in September, 1813, Five Medals sued {or peace
with the Americans. He died sometime hefore 1829, buat his: e:and children con-

niJat ‘ d there that
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quantity of corn :(fo;':}ﬁd_‘i,ans), some of which was found buried, . N "

| dry, and a quantity on the stalk. They had also a
s, pumpkins and squashes, Most- all of thei
ad been taken away. Col. Wells ‘ordered. the .

some hung up
* quantity of p
" valuable property.

wigwams to be set on fire; and in a few minutes they were all in .

flames. Our provision being likely to become scarce, as we had
‘nothing along: except what was in our ‘knapsacks; which had ‘be-
-come very light, the men were ordered to take as much potatoes’.
“and corn as they could carry. We then marched back to Elkhart -

:Prarie, and ‘enbampéd.:,_This was on the 11th day -of September; o

‘1812, lacking ;dr_ily'_a'-'fe_w_‘months of 60 years, since L first saw Elk-
‘hart Prarie.? Some sport was made that night trying to roast po-.

tatoes. Every person knows that it requires hot ashes and coals, . S
which we had;:n‘of}_;-andz_.j;he_imethod that some undertook was to put - -,

down leaves and dirt, and then build a fire over them. When it was -

thought they:we ‘roasted, they were taken out,,and the. skin’:

found burnt as black as a:coal and the inside as raw.as it ever was,
d-laugh over it, we we n:;

ning we could roast our:

! ig and made a hard days march. to:Blue
night on of the men died with cholic, having eaten

river, and th
too much corn’? In'theé mor,

laid beside a log, and covered with chunks and poles, after which
we continued our march to Fort Wayne and arrived there in the

rning he was wrapped in his blanket and: - -

- afternoon, pré‘t’tj"‘;'\'wi?ell",féti‘gued. We had no Rail Roads then;® andiie

had to put down flatly, every mile that we travelled.—The other
attachments that was gent after the Indians, met with the same
guccess.that _Vl_}ad, they found none at home. SRR

When we.returned to Fort Wayne, the Ohio volunteers, dis-.:
banded and went home, having only volunteered for the relief of -
Fort Wayne. OQur company was under different circumstances, we
were mustered into the U.S. service for six months. I was sent by
our Captain to General Harrison to state our circumstances, and
ask what we should do? He said that we must go back to Urbana
and take our place in General Tupper’s Brigade, and he gave us an
order to draw rations on the route.z* The next morning we put fout]

for Urbana and took our position in the brigade.

22 Tp another account Jackson stated that they arrived at-the-village (or large
town? at 2:00 p.m. He is slightly in error about the date, however. The Americans
left Fort Wayne on September 14, arrived at the village on the 16th, and returned
to Fort Wayne on the 18th. Ligonier National Banner, September 28, 1870. Logan
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The men were anxious to go home, and Capt. McNemar went
to General Tuppér, who gave the whole _co_mpany.a_furlough for two
‘weeks. We left our arms and accoutrements with the Quartermas-

. ter, and took our clothes in our knapsacks in order to have them
" washed at home, and started for. our homes. Towards evening we .

agreed to scatter groups, and not too many stop at one house. We
were received very kindly by the inhabitants, and treated as well
as it was in their power to do. We all arrived safely at our homes.

. The men.that had families to .enjoy the privlege of being with

them, and the young men with their sweethearts, and all enjoyed

themselves well, until it was time for us to start back. We:did not™
* go back in a body, a number being conveyed a considerable part of -
““the way by their friends, in buggies and on horseback. Several of
"the men hired substitutes; they could readily be had for from 40 to
60 dollars. When we got to Urbana General Tupper’s Brigade had
"been ordered to march out to the frontier, and take a stand at some
! guitable point and to act as frontier guard. . o

" General Hull had surrendered his army to the British, and

_. ‘Lég'neral Harrison’s army, that we left at Fort Wayne, had marched
- down: the Maumiee and on the. Raisin, and there, under General

Winchester's command had been defeated and inhumanly massa-
ered.® So at that we had no troops, at that time, in the North.
There were a number of soldiers that had been furloughed that had

. returned there, who with several wagons-loaded with provisions, -

were about to start to the army. We all formed a Company under

the command of Capt. McNemar, as an escort for the teams, andfﬁ- g

took our march to follow after the Brigade.

There was a company of mounted Rangers (as they were
called) under command of ‘Captain'Maﬁa'fy, that was stationed on
the frontier to watch the movement of the Indians, his place of
rendezvous was on the route that Gen. Tupper had marched, it was
called Manary’s block-house.? We got there in the afterncon and
concluded to remain there until the next morning.—There was a
banter from the rangers to shoot at a mark with our boys, which
was quickly taken up, as our boys boasted on their use of the ri-
fle.~~Judges were appointed, and they were to shoot alternately,

% On January 22, 1813, an American army under General James Winchester
was destroyed by British and Indian forces on the River Raisin at Frenchtown (now
Monroe, Michigan). Among the units annihilated was the 17th United States Infan-
try, which had marched to Five Medals Village with Jackson. John R. Elting, Am-
ateurs, To Arms! A Military History of the War. of 1812 {Chapel Hill, N.C., 1991},

ary of Ross County as af'ti-‘adi.ng":'
iles north of Bellefentaine. The'
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after having fired several fbunds, the rangers had rather the better
-hiad a large awkward Jooking man in our Company. ..
' annoh; he had broke the lock of his rifle *'

:ﬁé_ké!';,_'——th_ey had rather quit shooting;

eﬁi;p’;an(l said: “Gentlemen, will you let me take

.. when Cannon € nd . L me taxe
a shot?” “Oh! yes; fire away,” he drawed up his musket, fired away
. and drove the gentre .poigg; biank. No qther one,had_. _togcheq the -

centre. This raised-a great shout. . : R P B
Two. or three of the boys perched him on their shoulders and . o
hurrahed for Cannon. This broke up the shooting match. The ne

morning we marched forward, and in due time. arrived at Ge -
Tupper’s encampment. 1t was on the head branches of the Seig ) |

river, in thick-timbered land, principally beach. We took our place .

on the line of Qﬁcﬁ-nipm’eni;,-which was an oblong square, on toler-- . .

able high ground. It was first called Camp MecArthur (in honorof = .~

" Col. McArthur, one-of: the Regimental Commanders in- Hulls 0o L B

" army), and afterwards it got the name of Fort McArthur; but, there " U T P

was never a Fo ilt.there, although two or three log houses Wer

erected for the ose of storing military stores.. - . .
© We had n g wWe would remain there. We at first

lived in tents; but when the weather began to get cold we built log™,

huts, covered with clapboards; some had chimneys and some had ERSE IR

open fronts, with tent cloths hung up in front at night and in cold : -

. weather. Our hgt.}.\{g__s__lthll_qgabl){_ comfortable; we had a chimney and '
door, we also chin ‘od 'and daubed: it, and laid a puncheon floor,’so" e

that we lived in:style, there was but three of us, Captain, myself

and our cook. The ‘ensign was discharged by reason of his having'

fits. Our bed was, to lay down one blanket and cover with the two;:

we had to lay spoon faéh}q,rl and if one wished to turn over we had

to make a frolic of it and all turn at once. We had easy, and toler- T

ably comfortable times: plenty to eat, not much to do, only provide : B

wood, cook our rations, wash our clothes and occasionally go on

fatigue or guard. A great many diverting incidents transpired that

winter, whilst we laid there.

Whilst we lay at Camp McArthur, several circumstances tran-
spired, some of which will be interesting, and some not much so,
although the militia, when in service, are as strictly under the
rules and articles of war as the regular soldiers are, yet the rules W
are not so strictly enforced. There is more sociability and familiar-
ity between the officers and privates when off duty. A Major in our ,
Brigade who was a foppish kind of a man, belonging to a well
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known aristrocratic family in Oh

.. associate .with common so0
_played all kind of
- officer .of the day, and I was officer
* The line of sentinels were placed

stream of water running '

had to cross it upon a few po

pranks upon him.

alongside of the camp,
les thrown across for

io,

1_diers,”a__nd all the men d 1
Tt so happened that he was
of the gnard at the same time.—

on the opposi{;é

relieving guard. Rain of a short time previous

"stream considerably, and t
with, the Major that night.

after which the Major came to the

and file of men to escort him over
_tinel they came to, was just on
soopn as the sergeant had crosse
nel,-“who comes there.” The ans

fast grand rounds. Advance sergeant and give the countersign.” By

slipped off the poles and was floundering
: el heard him splashing in -
ut alould':‘l“r‘_Sj'tand fast,';.gfal'ridi rounds, after..
| ssed on, We heard the

" this time the Major had
'\ in the water near waist deep. The
. . ‘the water, and. called o
o which he- crawled out o
" “splashing in:the water,
" was satisfied that it was 2 pl

the oppos
d over, he

f the Waftlérl ‘and passed on. We.
and from the tittering amongst the boys 1"
ot they had made up.—There was a .

sentin
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thought himself too good to

hated him, and

éi_de_faf a small -

and the sentinels .

that purpose in
had raised the

he boys had plotted to have some fun .

It was cloudy and very dark, shortly
-guard and requested a sergeant
‘{he grand rounds. The first sen-
: ite side of the stream so,
was hailed by the senti-
wer was “grand rounds.”—"“Stand

gutler, that had an establishment near camp, who,..gold' coffee,, -
sugar, butter and whiskey, &c. We had quite a number of men in

' the ranks that woul
Their rations of whiskey

money they would go and buy. 0

would keep drunk near
eral order prohibiting the
dier without a written or ve
officer. There were a few

key and kept drunk. Our Captain

command of the company.

4 drink too much whis
did not satisfy them, an

gutler from sell
rhal permit'_fro
men in our company

key if they could get it. .
d when they had

f the sutler, and some of them

ly all the time. Gen, Tupper issued a gen-
ing whis_kej to any sol-
m some commissioned
that still got whis-

was sick on furlough, and I had

1 endeavored to find out how they got

their whiskey, and at last one of our men told the whole secret.

There was a man in lines that had a sword to sell for five dollars;

the money was raised; the sword bought, and two or three of them

would take the sword an
buy a quart of whi

d canteen and go to the sutler and ask to

skey—well where is your permit,—“I have got
ign will you permit me to buy a

none, but here is our ensign. Ens

quart of whiskey.” “Yes sir,
This was the plan they had co

the sword from them. Three of us

few miles to try and kill

“morning, and wen

‘a deer

e stream on the

concluded to go

let that man have a quart of whiskey.”
ntrived to get whiskey, so we took

down the river a

or turkey. We started early one

of deers. Th

sed over the st




gonsiderab_le_c_i_i,gi_;: \ce,
". their tails before.

 camp. 1 went down ' to

T was afraid to-leav
“cluded to follow it-around )

~ when I'found a large tree that had fallen. It had broke four or five "
- feet from the ground

. ered bark and leaves; @
- back against the s
" was not over two
- although it rained;
“ing disturbed ‘me exct

* glarmed me some. In the thorning I‘:‘started_“doWn‘the stream with-. "

. to . camp, (having:killed:no .game) .and reported ‘,.Lthat,Lie_g_tgn.g}.‘t.

- McArthur. together. 1
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ut could not get a shot. I could always see
ee their bodies, and I finally, gave:up the °
Jost 1ty companions, as théy'had'gbt_ie;
ould not follow them,. but ‘would look
me, and then ‘follow the stream back to
tlie stream and followed it up until T was
anough. I concluded I would cross over and -

chase. I concluded
down the stream;, tha
round for some other

confident I'had gone:far:

get into the:road the p to camp; but when 1 got to the stream. 4 |
I found it to be a;smallxun with but little water in it. T was. then ' i
satisfied that it was ich of the stream that our camp was, on i
that I knew-nothing about. 1t was cloudy and late in the day, and -

‘stream for fear I would. get lost, so I con-.
d'to camp. 1 followed on down until dark, .

d'was still attached to the stump. Igath-
‘made a comfortable place to sit, with my
1nd covered by the body of the tree which,
e my head. I:set there all night, and
quite dry, but did not sleep much. Noth-.
that.1 heard .‘_SOmething\ _run past, whic

out any breakfast, and before I got to the: forks of the stream, 1
heard the cannon boom. The boys that went with me had returned o
Jackson was lost in.the woods, and Genera "Tupper had ordered
the cannon to be fired a in-rise, and every hour afterwards until
I was found. I contin own the river to the forks, and crossed
over, got into the.rqad,'"'énd started up stream towards camp, I pres- )
ently heard another boom. 1 continued on and soon met four of our :
men that had started to hunt for me.—They fired off their guns as : o

a signal that I was found, and we returned to camp, and I folt very . 3
much like taking full rations. This was my last deer hunt during

the war. During the time we remained at camp McArthur, the

stream that we got water from, froze almost dry, and the general

ordered a well to be dug inside the encampment. 1t was commenced k.
large enough for two men to work in it at a time, and one day two

of the men fell out and fought right in camp. They were court-

marshaled and sentenced to dig in the well two days together,

which sentence was put in force. When we first settled here at Elk- ¥
hart Prairie, a man by the name of William Runyan settled here.? S -
On conversation with him we found that we had been at camp
asked him if he remembered the circum-
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uncle to Peter L. Runyan.

P

court, as to their whereabouts about the

return back to camp.—Black-hoop sent

Whilst we were at camp McArthur,

stance of the two men fighting in camp, and having to dig in the
. public well together. He bursted out into a loud laugh and said he

* did' well yemember it, for he was one of the men; He went from
here to Rolling Prairie an died there several years ago. He was an

While at camp McArthur the friendly Indians often visited our
~ camip, and would often times stay all night. At one time several
" came in from Upper Sandusky. Black-Hoop, cne of the head chiefs
was. in company, and the old man stayed in General Tupper’s
- Morgue.® About 10 o'clock at night he was sitting and talking with
the General, (he could talk good English), when some person went. .
to-one corner of the Morgue, and parting the tent-cloth, presented
* and fired a pistol at the old chief’s head, the ball striking his cheek
" one near to-his eyes, he fell and lay for some length of time. ‘After
"4 while he sat'up and his face was all covere:
" made him look frightful. Gen. Tupper called in the surgeons who
exarnined the wound, .é;{tracted the ball, and pronounced the case
_ not fatal, though a pretty bad wound. They did all they couldto, - -
. alleviate his sufferings. This circumstance :ot;;:asion:ed‘f_g_reat-:éxci'te-"
nient in camp, and.on the next morning acourt martial was‘or-;

covered with blood -which_

dered; and every mess was called up, sworn and examined by the.

time of the skiooting. The

examination went all round the lines, every officer, private, and .
camp followeér, being sworn and examined by the court, and every- )
. one proved themselves clear. It was afterwards ascertained that
there was three wagoners in camp that ni_‘ghi;',fthat"z started off early
the next morning with their teams, and:it.was finally concluded
that it was one of them that had done the mischief, as they did not

for an Indian doctor, who

stayed and attended him until he was well enough to go home.®

our spy coInpany was con-

tinually roaving through the country making discoveries. They

came into camp one day and reported

that there was a body of

Indians and some British Red-coats on the North side of the Mau-

mee river at the foot of the rapids, and

in their scout they found

# Black Hoop (or Hoof) was 2 Shawnee chief who resided near present day Wa-
pakoneta, Ohio. He signed the Greenville Treaty in 1795 and remained friendly to
the Americans throughout the War of 1812. Blue, Centennial History, 160-76.

a According to General Tupper, Black Houp was wonnded on January 25, 1813,

The shot was fired throu

gh the chinking in the back of a chim- .

5 to. The bullet hit the India in the left cheek. Although

find the ‘culpri
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. +an Indian and_bgought'=.him into our camp a prisgner.,_'_lfhi‘s_l‘!thir}}_c ;
" 'was in October, 18 eneral Tupper concluded to.go down and
" youte them if possible: and ordered ‘about two-thirds of our force.t
be ready with cooked xj_atjbns, to march off early the next morning
We marched off, leaving about one-third behind to keep camp, and ;.

- with a quick march we arrived at the head of the rapids late on

the second evening. The spies had Been__'despatchet_ldownt_he, river S

about three miles, to_discover the whereabouts of the enemy, and :
~on their return reported that they were where they had seen them -
before, and that they.were on a frolick, drumming and dancing. :
Gen. Tupper and. the field officers, concluded to wade the riverin
night own and attack them in the morning before day, -

‘ _ rmed and started to cross over. The ‘night was
_ pretty dark, w. he foremost had got partly over;:and those that
were behind hs aged. down stream to where the water w
' deeper. Some me had began to loose their feet, and. ah alarm was
' 6 men were drowning, Which throwed the, line:all
s6 ‘that were in front of the confusion. marched : ©

rapids. We were

- into confusion. Thos

on, and those in _tﬁea’j}i‘éé‘ij turned back. The field officers rode in and .
rescued those that was likely to drown, and there we were, part on

‘divided into two platoons, each platoon o
across the river, which ran pretty swift on the i

*‘one side of the river and part on'the other side. Some few lost their.« s«

guns that were never found. Gen. Tupper ordered those that had
. got over to re-cross back, so that we were all where we started
" from. We then went a short distance from the river, built fires to
"' dyy our clothes, and bivouked on the ground until:morning. Early
“in the morning the spy company was sent down the river, to ascer-
tain if the enemy had discovered us, and to ascertain their move-
ments; they saw no particular stir, but discovered a canoe loaded
with a few Indians coming across the river. They lay in ambush,
and when the canoe struck shore, and the Indians began to land,
they fired on them, saw one Indian fall, and another crawl up to
the fence seemingly in great pain. The spies then retreated and
came and reported. We heard the firing, and was formed in line of
battle and proceeded to march down the river. We had gone prob-
ably a mile when we heard the Indians in front of us yelling like
savages. They had supposed that they had overtaken the spies that
had fired on the canoe, and ran up o within a hundred yards of
ed our force. They then fired and re-
‘we returned the fire, but without. do-
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then marched down and formed a line on our side of the river, and

-~ the Indians and red-coats on the:opposite side. The Queen Char- - o
lotte had brought up the troops. from the lake, and was now dying oo o0t
at, the foot of the rapids. She fired two guns, and started down the °

viver, while the British paraded with drum and fife, and the Indi-

ans yelled all round. As our rations were nearly gone, and we had

- np way of crossing the river, Gen, Tupper concluded. to return back -

to. camp. McArthur; so we proceeded ap the river probably two -
miles, when one of the spies came running back and told the Gen-
eral, that the Indians were crossing the river just.above us as thick -
as black-birds. We went with a quick march, or'rather ran, until

we, got opposite to where they were crossing, and formed a line on o

the bank, which was probably about one hundred yards from the.
river. Some few Indians had got over, and the river was filled with
them,. and the woods on the other side also perfectly alive with -
them.,We commenced firing on them, and they commenced retreat- .
ing, every. one fired ‘oft his gun, before starting back through the
wat,

water..In the midst of the flurry it was discovered that :a number
of -LFQ?F.Q‘J?d-,,E?d:ﬁOE}tS ihad_ crossed the river son‘gexﬁghepe_ and ‘was,
about to attack our rear. A regiment was immediately ordered to

meet them, and fired at them, when they retreated in quick time...; :

It was not known how much'danfage' they received, but they were
seen to cross back with one empty horse.—Not one of our men was

- hurt as they shot over s, Three of our men had straggled off from i -0,

our lines, who we heard afterwards was killed and scalped. We did
not know at that time how many Indians were killed, but we after-
wards learned - that there was seven killed and some: wounded.
Some were seen to fall in the river. This was all the fighting that -
1 participated in during the war. Although Gen. Tupper reported it -
as a battle, yet from what I read of, and what 1 heard my father
tell of the battles that he was in, in the revolutionary war, I never
called it but a ‘slight skirmish.’ I did not get to know fairly
whether I would make a good soldier or not, but I always supposed
that T would make about as good a soldier as the dutchman, when
he got into a battle, he was heard to say ‘plut for plut, I would
shoost so soon lif as tie” We then resumed our march towards camp
McArthur. When we left where we had bivouked during the night,
there was two men left, one was sick, and the other was not right

-well;-who staid to take care of the sick man, we did not go_back to

where they were, but angled to the left so as to strike the road that

e came on, some miles in advance. I did not know there was any

rgons left there until there was inquiries ‘made -along the lines .
eers, to.go b -k and ascertain what
nk ten dollar:
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they went a short distance, got into a thicket and stayed all day.
At night they followed. on, but did not overtake us until we:got in_
“camp: We lay ‘the g nothing, had a good deal of sickness,’
principally biliousfever and yellow jaundice, sev.éral{:deaths‘:eo‘c#:ulj--
ring; L ST ‘

Some time in January, 1813, Gen. Harrison determined to ‘

" take a stand at Fort Meigs (where Perrysburg now stands) and we " L B
“.iwere ordered to m: to-that place. The weather was. very. cold; . '
. ‘and the snow quite deep, and through the Black swanip the ground

~ was-mot frozen, which made it quite hard traveling.’ We started " oy

on; and although four horses were put to the
ot draw it, so we had to leave it in- the Black
ould cut down a beach sapling, trim off the

af)ffon top of the snow, cover it with a blan-
down for a pillow, lie down on it, cover
lankets, and get up in the morning al-
on this way until we:arrived at Fort
y always on the alert; went' down :the
dke, and got information from/some. inhabi-
as a party of Indians encamped some
d, and were killing and destroying-the

‘with a six pound ca
carriage, they couldn
swamp. At night w
limbs, make a brus
ket, put our knap
ourselves with twojothier
most frozen. We n
 Meigs.® Our spy
‘Maumee river to t
tants there, that
where in the neigh

cattle and hogs belonging' to the citizens. Gen. Tupper sent a de-

.. tachment of: about. ompanies (I think under.command of Ma-
jor Beasley,) to kill or estroy them.® They started down on the ice
just in the evening and went to the settlement where they were ril%

reported to.be, but the Indians had left, and the party returned .
that evening. None -of our company had ever seem: lake: Erie, and -
after they returned, those of our company that did not go, was:very' ‘
inquisitive to know how the lake looked. One of the boys that went .. - 5
being a very dry kind of a chap, told them that the sky and the . Coe
lake came so near together, that there did not seem to be room for

a fellows hat between. In our passage out from where we had left :
the cannon, we had broke the road so that it froze pretty solid and ‘E
was tolerable smooth. A party was sent back and brought it to ot
camp. One day, whilst a number of us were sliding on the ice on

32 The Black Swamp was an area in northeastern Ohio that measured over a
hundred miles long and forty miles wide. Practically every large army marching
through this part of the state took pains to avoid the area. Alec R. Gilpin, The War
of 1812 in the Old Northwest (East Lansing, Mich., 1958), 36. '

' The Ohio troops probably arrived at Fort Meigs between February 2 and Feb-
' wrote that he started from Fort MeArthur with 400 men fit :
ruary 16. Eearey, Messages.and

1 .
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_: pedition referred to by Jackson. By February 13 the: :Ohio

; olumbus, Ohio, 1975) 98-102.
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the river, one of the boys in camp loaded the cannon and ﬁred ata

*‘shanty’ on' the opposite side of the river, where Maumee: clty now: -

“stands. The_ball went Wh1zz1ng over the boys heads, on the. ice; and:
‘they knowing nothing about’ the camp of the shooting came Scarn~
pering off of the river in quick time, being very much frlghtened
The first shot missed, but the second hit the shanty, and made the

 dust fly. Tt must have been nearly a mile distant.>* L

'In about ten days, troops commenced coming in from: V1rg1ma
Pennsylvama Ohio and other parts. The Kentucky troops under

Clay and Dudley, did not arrive until after we left.?® We' contmued' T

there in camp, until near the middle of February when the term of -

service of our Brigade expired; and Gen. Harrison wishing'toide- -

liver an address to his soldiers, had caused a four square ‘rail pen
to be built, ten feet high, and covered with flat rails, as there was
ne lumber there We were formed into a hollow square around the

~ rail plle when Gen. Harr1son crawled up like a coon, and stood up

.. at least six feet high. He had a'long Roman nose, a sharp: keen eye’
. that seemed to ‘pierce’ through a person at the first glande,’ and'}ns:
... face looked as sharp as'a broad axe. He rehearsed the 51tuatlon of "

. this part of our country; that Hill had surrendered our army: “that e

. the Kentucky troops were massacred at River Raisin; that we had

- to fall back to where we now were; that he did not know how soon

.. the .enemy might be upon us; that the troops ‘that -he-had ‘expected ™"

had not arrived, and that in view of all the circamstances, he re-

_quested that the troops whose term of service was about to’ explre, -

would voluntéer to’ stay one month longer, and he would gu =
their pay. He said that it was only a request, as he had no “author-"

ity to order them to stay. We were then dismissed at the evening

parade, and the subject was discussed by our company. Some were
for staying, and some for going home. We had suffered very much
for the last month with cold and fatigue, and the men had become
very home sick. It was left to a vote, and about two thirds voted to
go home, some companies stayed, but a majority of our Brigade
went home. I would willingly have stayed, but an officer dare not
encourage any one to stay, for it would be thrown up to him that
it was money that prompted him to stay, as he was getting high

# The cannon shot referred to was perhaps fired on the evening of February 8
when an American eighteen pound gun fired from Fort Meigs into a house acress
the Maumee River. Two days later, Harrison sent part of the army out on the ex-

ia:began to be dis-
he War of 1812 .

charged and leave.the army. Harlow. Lin le 7-ed,, Fort Meig,
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A
wages: | wag very. glad to”hear afterwards that the troops had all.
--We received. 9 dlscharge papers on the 15th day of Februar P
1813, drawed and cooked two days rations, and started for honie.'. ! ‘
The weather had become warm, and rain following for the past two o
days, had melted the ‘shiow, and the ground was deluged ‘with ‘wa-
ter.—On. arrwm lack swamp, it was discovered to be all 8
- flopded with: water, - e built log heaps of fire,; and. proposed to?‘
remain there al mgh The weather in the evening had turned.
quite. cold ‘ar rning there was ice on ‘the water,’ more” : s

than a ‘halfi inch th ck, but:would not bear a man’s weight. We were..
then hemmed up_ k “children of Israel at the Red Sea, and;
were forced to go forv ard ;80 we formed in double file, and the-ice
broke through at every step, and the water underneathibemg from’

- fall’ back tot
continued o‘
ice;'then we ‘and‘take the bits of ice out of b shoe
had no bdots® after running and jumping, around for o
few minutes to warm andikeep our bloed in circulation, we would '
continue our “wade” for several miles until we got through the g
swamp:. We redched Fort:Finley just at night.3-=-Built large fires P
changed our pants and socks, hung them up to dry, ate our rations,
and prepared to remain there all night. We started early next
morning;: but;had to wade, through considerable ice and ‘water " "

though not sp uch -as the previous day. We continuedion t :
bana, where we sted part of a day, and staid all’ mght —Here'we. -
drew two days rations and cooked it, and the next morning started
for home. We kept toget_he_r the first day and night, and the next - - Ty
morning we broke off into squares, the men becoming anxious to S

get home, those that could walk fastest going ahead.—The rest

marched on just as they could stand it. Our feet had become very

sore by the ice in our shoes. Some few got home late that night, - - W
but the most part did not get home until the next day. It so hap-

pened that not one of our company died during the campaign, but

all got home alive, Thus ended my first campaign in the service.

" ¥ The last of the Ohio militiamen were discharged on February 24, 1813. Har-

L . rison told the secretary of war that although the militiamen would not stay for even

ne more month he was sure that 1f he was ready to advance into. ‘Canada they
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. there was any cowardice about him
" We ldy at Upper Sandusky that night, and the next moerning were
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In the fall of the same year, 1813, (as I have no dates but write

. from recollection), I think it was the latter part of September,*
" Qeneral Harrison’s head guarters were at Fort Meigs,; the British
.. had landed a force at Sandusky ‘Bay, and were about to invade the
~country in that quarter.-All the troops that we had in that quarter,-
' was d small command under Major Croghan, at Fort Stephenson.*

Gen. Harrison fearing his forces were too weak to oppose the force
that might come against him, sent an express to Governor Meigs

the Governor ordered out:the militia in our part of the State, en-
masse, to rendezvous at Circleville, and in-a few days we were en-
route for the scene of action. I in the meantime had been promoted
to the Captaincy of an infantry company; We marched on, passing
through where the City of Columbus now stands, when it was an
unbroken forest. We continued our march to upper Sandusky,

' .. where we were met by Gen. Harrison and his 'sj:aff, who ordered us
- to halt there, and go no further, as our services were not required. .
" The ‘British forces had attacked Fort:Stephenson, -and Major -

d'they had gone back to
hat time of being rather
“hurt, but I never believed
Ithough heacted cautiously.

Croghan had whipped the whole force; an
Oanada. Gen. Harrison was accused
cowardly, of being scared before he v

paraded in line, six men deep. Gen. Harrison delivered a short ad-

“ dvess, thanked us fbr:'buff‘pl"bthﬁfhéés':'fdr.'ém‘ﬁing to his reliefand” "

the Adjutant General then mustered us out of service. It was said
that there was between’ six and seven thousand of us together
there. We then started for home, and arrived there safe, without

the loss of a man. Thus ended my military .service in the war of

 Apain, Jackson remembers incorrectly. This company was enlisted from late
July to mid-August, 1813. Adjutant General of Ohie, Roster of Ohio Soldiers, 52,

# George Croghan (1791-1849), a Tnited States regular army officer, became
famous for his successful defense of Fort Stephenson, Ohio, against a much larger
British and Indian force in August, 1813. Dictionary of American Biography, see
under “George Croghan.”

to send him ‘@ reinforcement of troops immediately. Accordingly. .




